FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 7/9/2021 12:33 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/9/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 37206-5-III

No IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Petitioner,
v.
JACOB COX,
Respondent.
PETITION FOR REVIEW
BRIEF OF PETITIONER
Respectfully Submitted: The Ballingson

James L. Nagle, Prosecuting Attorney

By: Kelly A.B. Stevenson, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Petitioner 240 West Alder, Suite 201 Walla Walla WA 99362-2807 (509) 524-5445

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington, represented by the Walla Walla County Prosecutor, is the Petitioner herein.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of the Published Opinion (COA No. 37206-5-III), filed April 20, 2021 (Appendix A 1-19) and Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, filed June 10, 2021 (Appendix A-20).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion and violate the Defendant's right to a fair trial when it excluded testimony regarding the victim's behavior on the evening of the rape?
- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion and violate the Defendant's right to a fair trial in limiting cross-examination of the State's forensic expert?
- 3. Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion in excluding testimony about the Defendant's reputation for sexual morality in the community when the proffered witnesses were unable to lay an adequate foundation for the same?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant herein, Jacob Nathaniel Cox, was convicted by a jury of Rape in the Second Degree, under RCW 9A.44.050(1)(b) on September 11, 2019. Report of Proceedings (RP) at 1101. The Court of

Appeals, Division III, has reversed the conviction, finding that the trial court abused its discretion in its various rulings on the testimony and evidence, thereby violating the Defendant's Constitutional Right to Present a Defense under . Appendix (App.) A-1 through A-19.

The facts of the offense are incorporated herein from the Respondent's Brief filed in 37206-5-III.

During the trial, the trial court made numerous rulings on the admissibility of certain testimony and evidence. At trial, Cox sought to introduce testimony that, hours before the rape occurred, the victim had sat on his lap. Cox sought to introduce this testimony for two reasons: 1) To demonstrate how drunk the victim was, to further the defense argument that the victim could not accurately recall her sexual assault, and 2) To provide the jury with an "innocent explanation" as to how the Defendant's DNA arrived on the victim's underwear. RP at 362-66.

The trial court ruled that any testimony about the victim having sat on the Defendant's lap earlier on the evening of the rape should be excluded because: 1) "There was ample, replete, and repeated evidence that everyone had been drinking quite heavily[,]" (RP 974), so the need to prove the same with testimony about the victim sitting on the Defendant's

lap was repetitive and cumulative, and 2) "I was tempted before in response to [Defense counsel's] argument to say simply my ruling earlier was relevancy, 401, 402, 403. If you want me to be more specific, I think that evidence is only very marginally relevant and the prejudicial effect far outweighs any probative value that it might have. So my ruling remains the same. Simple as that." RP 369.

V. ARGUMENT

The State's Petition for Discretionary Review demonstrates conflicts of court decisions, and issues of public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION TO EXCLUDE TESTIMONY REGARDING THE VICTIM'S BEHAVIOR HOURS BEFORE THE RAPE.

"The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations." *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010), citing *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S.Ct.1038, 35 L.Ed.2d. 297 (1973). "Defendants have a right to present only relevant evidence, with no constitutional right to present *irrelevant* evidence. *Id*. "[I]f relevant, the burden is on the State to show the evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial."

Jones, supra, citing State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d. 612, 622, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002).

As mentioned above, Mr. Cox sought to introduce evidence of the victim sitting on his lap to demonstrate: 1) how drunk the victim was, and 2) that the lap-sitting could provide "an innocent explanation" for how Cox's DNA got onto the victim's underwear. Mr. Cox states in his Opening Brief:

[Mr. Cox's] DNA found on clippings on the edge of J.R.'s underpants crotch was a major part of the State's evidence. J.R. wore a knee-length dress the night of the party. Thus if she sat on [Mr. Cox's] lap it is highly possible her underpants came in contact with his leg or pants. Thus DNA could easily transfer from his lap to her underpants, offering an innocent explanation as to how it got there.

Appellant's Brief at 25. Emphasis added.

Regarding testimony about lap-sitting, the trial court determined that Mr. Cox was attempting to introduce evidence that was otherwise barred by the Rape Shield Statute, RCW 9A.44.020(2), for a different purpose.

The trial court's reliance on the Rape Shield Statute in this case to exclude testimony about lap-sitting and "flirtatious" behavior of the victim

was well-reasoned, and therefore not an abuse of discretion. Division III states in its opinion:

The Rape Shield Statute, RCW 9A.44.020 prohibits a defendant from introducing evidence of 'past sexual behavior' to impeach a victim or prove consent. The purpose of the statute was to redefine relevant evidence in sexual assault cases and 'erase the misogynistic and antiquated notion that woman's past sexual behavior somehow affected her credibility.

App. at A-6 and A-7, quoting *Jones*, 168 W.2d at 722-23...

"not past behavior; it was contemporaneous with the alleged rape." App. at A-7. Division III adopted the holding from *Jones* that "Any reading of the [Rape Shield] statute that conflates 'past' with 'present' is tortured." *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d. at 722-23. As the State pointed out in its Motion to Reconsider, this application of the holding from *Jones* tortures the meaning of "contemporaneous," which Merriam-Webster defines as "existing, occurring, or originating during the <u>same</u> time¹." (Emphasis added). The lap-sitting occurred earlier in the evening of June 18, 2016, and the rape occurred in the early morning hours of June 19, 2016. To characterize the

¹ https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/contemporaneous (last visited on July 8, 2021)

lap-sitting as contemporaneous with a rape occurring hours later simply does not align with the recognized definition of "contemporaneous."

Mr. Cox's assertion that his DNA could have "innocently" arrived on the victim's underwear via lap-sitting was unsupported by the testimony he provided during an offer of proof on the issue, as well as the victim's testimony of how Cox's DNA got onto her underwear. There was no testimony that demonstrated a nexus between the lap-sitting and a DNA transfer. Rather, this is argument was conjecture at best, so the trial court properly excluded it.

The trial court *did*, however, permit Cox to introduce testimony that his injured finger could have caused a DNA transfer to the victim's underwear. The defense theory here was that the victim, who tended to a cut on Cox's finger during the party *may* not have washed her hands thereafter, and *may* have subsequently touched the crotch of her own underwear, creating an opportunity for a secondary DNA transfer. The victim denied that she handles her underwear by the crotch area – other than when the prosecution asked her to examine it on the stand during her testimony. RP at 264-65, 313, 323-34.

Though this defense theory is somewhat problematic, given the assumptions required of the trier of fact, Mr. Cox was <u>not</u> prejudiced in his ability to present a defense, because the court permitted introduction of this defense theory despite its problematic nature.

Here, unlike Cox's theory of primary DNA transfer via lap-sitting, the victim testified that she could not specifically remember having washed her hands after tending to Cox's finger injury (RP at 237, 263-64), so the trial court properly permitted the defense to present the secondary transfer theory to the jury.

The same analysis applies to Cox's assertion that the trial court erred by excluding his proffered testimony that the victim had kissed some of the partygoers and encouraged others to kiss each other. Cox repeatedly claimed he wanted to introduce this testimony to provide "context for how intoxicated J.R. was, and how that intoxication affected her." Appellant's Brief at 27.

However, as the State pointed out in its briefing, Cox's argument in this regard was, at least in part, to paint the victim in a negative light – given all of the other witnesses' testimony (including the victim's own testimony) about how drunk the victim was – which is not permitted under

the Rape Shield Statute. "Evidence of a victims past sexual behavior including...sexual mores contrary to community standards is <u>inadmissible</u> on the issue of credibility[.]" RCW 9A.44.020(2).

The court determined that raising this issue to prove intoxication was irrelevant, and that the prejudicial effect of any such testimony far outweighed its probative value. RP at 474-76. The trial court's decision to exclude the lap-sitting testimony should not be disturbed, as Cox has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding it. The State, on the other hand, maintains that even if relevant, introduction of that testimony would have fundamentally disrupted the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial, given the inadequate offer of proof by Cox on this issue, as determined by the trial court.

Division III has cited *State v. Duarte Vela*, 200 Wn.App. 306, 402 P.3d 281 (2017), another Division III case, which holds "the ER 403 balancing of probative value versus unfair prejudice is weighed differently when the defense seeks to admit evidence that is central to its defense." 200 Wn.App. 306 at 320; App. at A-9. Further, Division III ruled that the victim's intoxication and "flirtatious behavior" as well as testimony regarding the lap-sitting were "highly probative to the defense theory of

the case." App. at A-9. Mr. Cox sought to throw different theories of DNA transfer at the jury and hope at least one of those theories would gain traction. He was not denied his constitutional right to present a defense simply because the trial court did not permit introduction of *every* theory.

B. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN LIMITING DEFENSE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE STATE'S FORENSIC EXPERT.

"A trial court's limitation of the scope of cross-examination will not be disturbed unless it is the result of manifest abuse of discretion." Darden, supra, citing State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 20, 691 P.2d 929 (1984).

Here, the State called its forensic scientist, who tested the evidence in this case, to testify as to his findings when he compared the genetic material on the victim's underwear, her rape kit, and the buccal swabs obtained from Mr. Cox during his police interview. On direct examination, the State's forensic scientist, William Culnane, testified that in the mixed DNA profile discovered on the victim's underwear, the victim was the major contributor to that profile, with Cox being the minor contributor. Mr. Culnane also testified that there was a trace component in the DNA profile that was present in such a small quantity that it could not

be analyzed further. Mr. Culnane was very clear that this trace component could <u>not</u> be identified as belonging to a male or female. RP 670-72, 687-88.

Mr. Culnane explained that in the DNA typing process, the typing software printout shows that alleles have smaller, repeatable peaks that show up right next to the actual allele's peak. Mr. Culnane described these smaller peaks as "little sister peak that is smaller compared to its actual peak." This is an artifact in the typing process called "stutter." RP at 691-92. Further, different colors of dye are used in the DNA typing process. Often, the dye from one allele's readout will bleed over into another area of the readout from the computer software, making it appear that there is another allele present, when really the dye has simply bled over. When the forensic scientist sees this bleed-over on the readout, he then makes a visual determination as to whether the dye is representative of a true allele as opposed to dye bleed-over from a different allele's peak, which is called "pullup." Pullup is another artifact in the DNA typing process. RP 691-92.

Mr. Culnane testified on direct examination, and again on crossexamination, that he observed two such artifacts in the typing process in the instant case, stating "I believed one was a pullup artifact and one was a combination of a stutter and a pullup artifact." RP at 693.

Following this testimony, trial defense counsel asked Mr. Culnane if he would agree that these two artifacts were, in fact, not artifacts, but real alleles. Mr. Culnane disagreed, and testified that he went back and rereviewed the data and still believed that the peaks present on the DNA typing readout were, in fact, artifacts that were not indicative of actual alleles. RP at 694.

In its opinion, Division III states "Here, defense counsel was asking the State's expert whether his conclusion would be different if his analysis were different." App. at A-15. This is inaccurate. Trial defense counsel was questioning whether the State's expert would agree that his own testing was incorrect, to further the defense theory. The State's expert did not agree that his testing or analysis of the same were inaccurate. The State's expert was steadfast that the trace component was not identifiable as male or female. When trial defense counsel continued to press the issue of the trace component belonging to another male (besides Mr. Cox), the trial court agreed with the State's objection that the defense's line of questioning was irrelevant and speculative.

By contrast, the defense forensic expert testified she believed the trace component of the mixed DNA profile could have belonged to a second male. RP at 797-800. The defense expert stated on cross-examination that she could not say *how* Mr. Cox's DNA got onto the victim's underwear, but agreed that his DNA could have been transferred to her underwear during digital penetration, just as the victim had testified. RP at 816, 818-19.

Mr. Cox has failed to demonstrate that he was prejudiced by the trial court's limitation of his cross-examination of the State's expert, because he was still allowed to argue his theory through his own expert.

C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING TESTIMONY REGARDING THE DEFENDANT'S REPUTATION FOR SEXUAL MORALITY IN THE COMMUNITY.

At trial, Mr. Cox sought to introduce testimony from four witnesses, who could ostensibly attest to his positive reputation for sexual morality in the community. Character evidence is evidence of a person's general disposition and tendencies, and admissibility is governed by ER 404(a).

ER 404(a)(1) permits a defendant to introduce evidence of his character if it is pertinent to the crime charged. *State v. Kelly*, 102 Wn.2d 188, 193–95, 685 P.2d 564 (1984). A character trait is "pertinent" if it is relevant. *State v. Perez–Valdez*, 172 Wn.2d 808, 819–20, 265 P.3d 853 (2011). Thus, "a pertinent character trait is one that tends to make the existence of any material fact more or less probable than it would be without evidence of that trait." *Id.* A trial court's decisions regarding admissibility of evidence are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997).

In the instant case, Division III has cited the Maryland case of Vigna v. State, 470 Md. 418, 235 A.3d 937 (2020), App. at A17, which includes an analysis of how multiple state courts have dealt with the issue of character evidence concerning sexual morality (and other iterations of the same) in various child sexual assault prosecutions.

In Vigna, supra, the Defendant was an elementary school teacher, who was charged with multiple counts of child molestation, and the victims were all either his current or former students. Each victim reported that Vigna had sexually abused them while they were in his classroom – frequently during class when other students were watching

movies. At his trial, Mr. Vigna sought to introduce multiple character witnesses who could attest not only to his reputation for truthfulness and law-abiding nature, but also to provide testimony about Mr. Vigna's reputation for being someone who "behaves appropriately with children in his custody or care." *Vigna*, 470 Md. 418 at 425.

The trial court permitted the character testimony about Mr. Vigna's truthfulness and law-abiding nature, but excluded the proffered character testimony about the defendant's reputation for appropriate behavior with children, concluding this was "too narrow and too specific to be a character trait." 470 Md. at 434. Mr. Vigna was convicted on nine counts, and appealed, arguing that the jury should have been permitted to hear the excluded character testimony. The intermediate appellate court held that "appropriate interaction with children" was not a pertinent character trait under Maryland's equivalent of Washington State's Evidence Rule (ER) 404(a). Mr. Vigna appealed further to the Court of Appeals of Maryland.

The Court of Appeals of Maryland ruled that "appropriateness with children may be a pertinent character trait for purposes of [the Maryland evidence rule]." 470 Md. at 438. The Court concluded that any error in excluding the proffered character witness testimony about Mr. Vigna's

"appropriateness with children" was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt

- because Mr. Vigna had still been able to introduce multiple other

character witnesses who attested to his law-abiding nature and truthfulness
at trial.

The Vigna Court (470 Md. at 440-44) cited multiple cases from all over the country – all of which were child sexual abuse cases, and each of which concerned the respective defendants' character for things like "appropriateness with children" and "sexual morality." Vigna cited State v. Griswold, 98 Wash.App. 817, 991 P.2d 657 (2000), a Washington State child molestation case out of Division III, for its holding that sexual morality is a pertinent character trait in a child molestation prosecution, provided the defense can lay an adequate foundation.

In its opinion on the instant case, Division III pointed out that Division I, for example, disagrees with Division III's position on the admissibility of sexual morality testimony. The relevant Division I case is *State v. Jackson*, 46 Wn.App. 360, 730 P.2d. 1361 (1986), which held that sexual morality is <u>not</u> relevant to whether a defendant has committed a sex offense, reasoning as follows:

The crimes of indecent liberties and incest concern sexual activity, which is normally an intimate, private affair not known to the community. One's reputation for sexual activity, or lack thereof, may have no correlation to one's actual sexual conduct. Simply put, one's reputation for moral decency is not pertinent to whether one has committed indecent liberties or incest. The trial court properly refused to permit Jackson's witnesses to testify concerning his reputation for sexual morality or decency.

46 Wash.App at 365.

The trial court in *Griswold* applied this standard from *Jackson*, holding that a defendant's reputation for sexual morality is not admissible. Mr. Griswold appealed, and Division III ruled that character testimony regarding the defendant's sexual morality is admissible, *provided* the defense can lay a proper foundation to introduce the same. "...[W]e conclude that because the foundation was inadequate, the result excluding the evidence was not erroneous." *Griswold*, 98 Wash.App. at 830. In the instant case, the State submits that there should be a hard distinction between cases involving character analysis in cases wherein a defendant is charged sexual molestation or rape of *children*, as opposed to sexual assault prosecutions where the involved parties are both adults.

The concept of "sexual morality" in the context of adult interactions with children is distinguishable from the concept of "sexual

morality" in adult sexual encounters, since there is <u>no</u> context in which <u>any</u> sexual behavior with a child could be construed as falling in the "gray area" of a morality scale, were such a thing to exist.

Adult sexual morality, however, without being defined by either the court or the legislature, necessarily invites subjectivity by the trier of fact, and potentially jury nullification. This is because what may be sexually "moral" to one person can differ vastly from how the next person might evaluate the same.

This concept was aptly pointed out in the instant case at trial, when the Hon. John W. Lohrmann (Ret.) ruled as follows regarding Mr. Cox's proffered character witnesses:

...I question whether this term "sexual morality" is really helpful. Some of these cases go back to the days such as 1904 when most states still had laws against let's [say] misogynation (sic), for example. Certainly homosexuality and those type of relations were taboo. So the concept of sexual morality in 2019 is so amorphous that it's probably going to [be] helpful for the Court of Appeals to take another look at that and give us some more guidance if at all possible. But under the circumstances that we have here, that's going to be my ruling. I'm not going to allow these four witnesses.

RP at 768. (Emphasis added).

Pressed by trial defense counsel as to what might constitute an appropriate foundation for "sexual morality," the trial court responded:

Certainly I would have been interested to know what exactly the social contexts were where you would have been exposed to information about somebody's sexual morality. And maybe also a better definition of what "sexual morality" is. It's such a, as I said, I used the term "amorphous." To some people, a person who is in favor of pro-choice, politics, would not have good sexual morality. Maybe somebody who's pro-life would be deemed the same because of who they're associated with. Such a difficult topic. I'm glad I didn't get into it because it would have led us really into the weeds probably. That's my problem with the whole thing. But at a minimum, in answer to your question, Mr[.] McCool, I would have thought that we need exposure in the community, not just on a general basis, on the basis that these witnesses had but more of a social context. That's about as specific as I'd get.

RP at 769-70. (Emphasis added).

Division III noted in its opinion on this case that the term "sexual morality" "is not well-defined." App. at A18. Division III has declined to define the term, both in *State v. Griswold*, 98 Wash.App. 87, 991 P.2d 657 (2000), and in its published decision in this case (37206-5-III). The lack of guidance from the court, combined with the split among the Divisions of our State Appellate Courts, necessarily leaves defendants to struggle with how to lay a proper foundation for their own reputations for sexual morality. It also creates difficulty for prosecutors seeking to refute the

same, and challenges for trial courts when applying the balancing test of probative value versus unfair prejudice under ER 403.

Here, the trial court made very careful, thorough rulings throughout the trial regarding why certain evidence and testimony would be limited or excluded. As a result, the Court of Appeals, Division III, has erred in its assessment that the trial court's exclusion of this testimony was a manifest abuse of discretion, and therefore reversible error.

"A trial court has 'broad discretion in ruling on evidentiary matters and will not be overturned absent manifest abuse of discretion.' Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wash.2d 431, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000) quoting Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 131 Wash.2d 640, 662–63, 935 P.2d 555 (1997). "When it takes a view no reasonable person would take, or applies the wrong legal standard to an issue, a trial court abuses its discretion." Cox v. Spangler, Supra. Here, it cannot be reasonably said that the trial court abused its discretion in limiting Mr. Cox's proffered character witnesses, given their testimonial deficits.

As the trial court pointed out, the defense in this case failed to lay an adequate foundation for the proffered character witnesses' knowledge of Mr. Cox's sexual morality. None of the proposed character witnesses could define what sexual morality means to them, and each simply indicated they'd never heard anything negative about the Defendant, so they presumed he had a good reputation for sexual morality. The trial court ruled that the proffered character witnesses were only able to offer testimony about the Defendant's general reputation – not about the more specific sexual morality reputation – so their testimony was inadmissible. RP 765-68.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the appellant's conviction for Rape in the Second Degree should be affirmed.