FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/21/2021 8:47 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 999643

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON							
STATE OF WASHINGTON,							
Petitioner,							
v.							
JACOB COX,							
Respondent.							
FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WALLA WALLA COUNTY							
The Honorable John Lohrmann, Judge							
RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO							
PETITION FOR REVIEW							

LENELL NUSSBAUM Attorney for Appellant

Law Office of Lenell Nussbaum, PLLC 2125 Western Ave., Suite 330 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 728-0996

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

D. ARGUMENT

THE STATE CITES NO CONFLICTING DECISIONS BY THE COURT OF APPEALS OR THE SUPREME COURT, RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), AND FAILS TO ARTICULATE HOW THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION PRESENTS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THIS COURT, RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will accept a petition for review "only:"

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The State claims review is warranted under these three grounds. Petition at 3. Yet it cites not a single conflicting decision by the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court. Petition at 3-20.

Nor does it articulate how the opinion below presents an issue of public interest, much less one so substantial as to call for this Court's review.

Cases suggest an issue of substantial public interest is one that involves a commonly repeated practice or application of law that will affect enormous numbers of similar cases. Thus this Court found an issue of substantial public interest

warranting review where the issue was whether every past divorce decree's escalation clause was void and required repayment of back child support In re Marriage of Ortiz, 108 Wn.2d 643, 645-46, 740 P.2d 843 (1987). See also: Tingdale, 117 Wn.2d 595, 597-99, 817 P.2d 850 (1991) (court clerk's practice of summarily excusing jurors before voir dire if the clerk believed the juror was acquainted with a defendant affected every jury trial in the county); State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (whether an elected prosecutor's general policy announcement was an ex parte communication would affect "every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue").

This case presents no issue of substantial public interest to warrant this Court's review.

THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION RELIES ON THIS COURT'S WELL-SETTLED AND RECENT CONTROLLING DECISIONS ON THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT CONFLICTING DEFENSE. THERE ARE NO RAP 13.4(b). DECISIONS.

The Court of Appeals analyzed the constitutional right to present a defense from this Court's decisions in *State v. Orn*, 197 Wn.2d 343, 482 P.3d

913 (2021), and State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 476 (2010); and the Court of Appeals decisions of State v. Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App. 306, 402 P.3d 281 (2017), review denied, 190 Wn.2d 1005 (2018), and State v. Sheets, 128 Wn. App. 149, 115 P.3d 1004 (2005), review denied by State v. Porter, 156 Wn.2d 1014 (2006). It reviewed this constitutional issue de novo, but also held it was an abuse of discretion. It concluded the error was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus it reversed Mr. Cox's conviction on this issue. 17 Wn. App. at 186-91.

Jones is the controlling authority for this case. In Jones, the defendant was charged with raping his niece. He sought to testify that the sexual intercourse occurred within the context of a "nine-hour alcohol- and cocaine-fueled sex party" in which his niece and another woman danced and engaged in sex with him and two other men in return for money. 168 Wn.2d at 718. The trial court excluded this evidence on the grounds it violated the Rape Shield Statute. This Court held this exclusion violated Mr. Jones's Sixth Amendment right to present a defense. Id. at 719-21.

In Jones, this Court held the Rape Shield Statute did not apply. The statute only prohibits evidence of "past sexual behavior." "Jones's evidence refers not to past sexual conduct but to conduct on the night of the alleged rape." Id. at 723. As in Jones, the proffered evidence of JR's behavior here was "not to past sexual conduct" but to conduct the same night as the alleged rape, within hours, at the same party. As in Jones, the Rape Shield Statute does not apply. There is no conflict.2

Unlike Orn, supra, this case turned entirely on the credibility of JR and Mr. Cox, and the significance of the DNA evidence. The defense offered an innocent explanation for the DNA, which the trial court excluded. This case involved nothing like the overwhelming evidence beyond the complaining witness's testimony in Orn. The error

As the Court of Appeals noted in *Sheets*, supra, there remains the separate issue whether "flirtatious" behavior is "sexual" behavior under the statute. 128 Wn. App. at 157.

The State argues the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with a dictionary definition of "contemporaneous." Petition at 5. Conflicts with a dictionary are not a ground for review. RAP 13.4(b).

was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Court of Appeals opinion is entirely consistent with the well-settled cases on which it relies. The State fails to show how it conflicts with any decision by this Court or the Court of Appeals. It makes no suggestion of how it presents a substantial issue of public interest requiring this Court's review. Petition at 3-9. This Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b).

Because this issue was dispositive, this Court should deny review of the remaining two issues.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION REGARDING CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE EXPERT WITNESS DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER APPELLATE DECISIONS OR PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST WARRANTING THIS COURT'S REVIEW. RAP 13.4(b).

The Court of Appeals held the trial court abused its discretion when it prevented defense counsel from cross-examining the State's DNA expert regarding his analysis as compared with the defense expert's analysis. Cox, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 191-93.

The State cites no authority with which this decision conflicts. Indeed, the decision is entirely consistent with *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002), which the State cites. Petition at 9.

A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. ... Abuse exists when the trial court's exercise of discretion is "manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." [T] he more essential the witness is to the prosecution's case, the more latitude the defense should be given to explore fundamental elements such as motive, bias, credibility, orfoundational matters.

Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 619. The Court of Appeals here applied the abuse of discretion standard. It concluded limiting cross-examination of the DNA expert as to the foundation for his opinion, as compared to the defense expert's opinion, was an untenable ruling of law on a crucial factual issue.

It has long been recognized that expert witnesses, by nature, are different from fact witnesses. While theories propounded on direct examination should be based on facts already established, such is not the case for cross-examination. On the contrary, an expert witness may be cross-examined with hypotheticals yet unsupported by the evidence that go to the opponent's theory of the case. Levine v. Barry, 114 Wash. 623, 627, 195 P. 1003 (1921).

Cox, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 193. The State cites no authority to the contrary. Petition at 9-12.

Since the Court of Appeals reversed the conviction on the previous issue, prejudice was not separately required on this issue. Petition at 12.

The Court of Appeals addressed this issue because it was likely to recur upon retrial. Cox, at 191.

Again, the State makes no suggestion of how this issue is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court should deny review.

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION ON DEFENDANT'S REPUTATION FOR SEXUAL MORALITY DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH OTHER DECISIONS BY THIS COURT OR THE COURT OF APPEALS. RAP 13.4(b).

As with the issue of expert cross-examination, the Court of Appeals addressed this issue only because it is likely to recur upon retrial. *Cox*, at 191. Thus review by this Court will have no effect on the outcome.

The State claims the Court of Appeals "erred" by holding the trial court abused its discretion. Petition at 19. Ironically, it quotes the trial court's comments inviting the Court of Appeals "to take another look at that and give us some more guidance if at all possible." Petition at 17. The Court of Appeals has done so. Cox, at 193-96.

The State observes that Division Three differs from Division One's decision in *State v. Jackson*, 46 Wn. App. 360, 730 P.2d 1361 (1986), regarding

the relevance of reputation evidence for sexual morality. Jackson, however, involved a charge of statutory rape. Division One reasoned that one's sexual contact with children would always be kept secret and never logically arise to one's reputation in the community. The State argues

there should be a hard distinction between cases involving character analysis in cases wherein a defendant is charged sexual molestation or rape of children, as opposed to sexual assault prosecutions where the involved parties are both adults.

Petition at 16 (emphasis original). The Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with this position.

This case involves alleged sexual contact between two adults who knew each other well enough for one to sit on the other's lap and lie on the same bed. JR alleged Mr. Cox penetrated her while she lay in, he on, the same bed with Mr. Cox's fiancee. An adult's sexual wanderings are far more likely to rise to the level of community reputation. Division Three recognizes this relevance, and notes it is the majority position among courts across the country. Cox, at 194-95.

The State further complains that the defense

laid an inadequate foundation to admit the character evidence here for good sexual morality. Petition at 18-20. But the Court of Appeals relied on this Court's opinion in State v. Underwood, 35 Wash. 558, 572, 77 P. 863 (1904), and noted: "The State does not cite any authority for its position, nor does it attempt to distinguish the holding in Underwood." Cox, at 196.

The State yet again fails to cite any authority for its position, or any distinction from Underwood. Petition at 12-20.

E. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals opinion in this case is controlled by well settled decisions by this Court. The State has not cited any conflicting authority, nor does it articulate how it presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court. This Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b).